2007

Gloria Soriano v. Elizabeth A. Gaul : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (2001). Direct appeal of the trial court's denial of Defendant's Motion to Compel Arbitration is taken pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-31a-129(1)(a) (2002).

STATEMENT OF ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

I. Whether the 2004 Amendments to Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-17 should be applied retroactively.

Preservation of Issue: This issue was preserved in the trial court in Plaintiff/Appellee Gloria Soriano's ("Plaintiff") Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Compel Arbitration [R. 21-41], Defendant/Appellant Elizabeth S. Graul, M.D.'s, ("Dr. Graul") Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion to Stay Litigation and Compel Arbitration [R. 45-57], and at the hearing on Dr. Graul's Motion to Stay Litigation and Compel Arbitration [R. 91].

Standard of Review: The issue of whether a statute can or should be applied retroactively is reviewed for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's conclusions. Goebel v. Salt Lake City Southern R.R. Co., 2004 UT 80, ¶ 39, 104 P.3d 1185 (citing Evans & Sutherland Computer Corp. v. Utah State Tax

Comm'n, 953 P.2d 435, 437 (Utah 1997); Brown & Root Indus. Serv. v. Indus. Comm'n, 947 P.2d 671, 675 (Utah 1997)).

PROVISIONS OF STATUTES AND RULES

The interpretation of Utah Code Annotated § 78-14-17 (2004), Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-3 (2000), U.S. Const. art. I, § 10, cl. 1 and Utah Const. Art. I, § 18 are of importance to this appeal, copies of which are attached hereto as Addenda A through D respectively.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings Below

This is a medical malpractice case arising out of the care and treatment Plaintiff received from Dr. Gaul in May of 2004. Prior to Plaintiff receiving medical care from Dr. Gaul, Plaintiff and Dr. Gaul entered into an Arbitration Agreement agreeing to arbitrate all claims related to the care and treatment provided by Dr. Gaul. In response to Plaintiff's Complaint and prior to any other responsive pleadings being filed, Dr. Gaul filed a Motion to Stay Litigation and Compel Arbitration ("Dr. Gaul's Motion") which Plaintiff opposed. Dr. Gaul's Motion was heard on March 16, 2007, by the Honorable Kate Toomey. Judge Toomey entered an order on March 27, 2007, denying Dr. Gaul's Motion on the basis that the 2004 Amendments to Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-17 apply

retroactively rendering the Arbitration Agreement unenforceable. This appeal followed.

Statement of Facts

Dr. Graul is a obstetric/gynecologic physician licensed to practice medicine in the State of Utah. [R. 1]. On April 28, 2004, Plaintiff Gloria Soriano presented at Dr. Graul's office and was evaluated for gynecologic complaints including an enlarged uterus. [R. 2]. On that same date, Ms. Soriano signed an Arbitration Agreement (the "Agreement"). [R. 16]. Article 1 of the Agreement provides that the parties:

agree to submit to binding arbitration all disputes and claims for damages of any kind for injuries and losses arising from the medical care rendered . . . after the date of this agreement. All claims for monetary damages against any physician . . . must be arbitrated including, without limitation, claims for personal injury, loss of consortium . . . emotional distress

[R. 16].

Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-17 sets forth the requirements arbitration agreements between physician and their patients must meet in order to be valid and enforceable. [R. 23]. Section 78-14-17 was amended in 2004 (the "2004 Amendments") with the Amendments becoming effective on May 3, 2004. [R. 24; 47].

On May 10, 2004, Dr. Gaul performed a vaginal hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy on Ms. Soriano. [R. 2]. By Complaint dated September 11, 2006, Ms. Soriano sued Dr. Gaul alleging medical malpractice for injury allegedly arising out of Dr. Gaul's surgery of May 10, 2004, and related medical treatment. [R. 1-5]. On October 12, 2006, Dr. Gaul filed her Motion requesting that the trial court compel arbitration pursuant to the terms of the Agreement. [R. 12-14].

On November 6, 2006, Plaintiff filed her Memorandum in Opposition to Dr. Gaul's Motion arguing that the Agreement is unenforceable because it fails to comply with the requirements set forth in the 2004 Amendments. [R. 23-26]. In response, Dr. Gaul asserted—and Plaintiff did not dispute—that the Agreement complies with the 2003 version of Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-17, the version of the statute in effect at the time the Agreement was signed by Plaintiff. [R. 47]. Dr. Gaul did not dispute Plaintiff's contention that the Agreement failed to comply with the 2004 Amendments. [R. 75]. Dr. Gaul did, however, argue that the provisions of the 2004 Amendments do not apply retroactively to the Agreement. [R. 47-49].

Dr. Gaul's Motion was heard by the Honorable Kate Toomey on March 16, 2007. [R. 91]. By Memorandum Decision dated March 27, 2007, Judge Toomey

denied Dr. Graul's Motion on the basis that the 2004 Amendments are retroactive, and because the Agreement does not comply with the requirements set forth in the 2004 Amendments, the Agreement is unenforceable. [R. 75]. Specifically, Judge Toomey concluded that the plain language of § 78-14-17 indicates that the Legislature intended for the 2004 Amendments to apply to all arbitration agreements executed after May 2, 1999. [R. 74].

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The 2004 Amendments to § 78-14-17 should not be applied retroactively because the Legislature did not expressly declare that the 2004 Amendments are to be applied retroactively. In Utah, there exists a strong presumption against the retroactive application of statutes. Consistent with this presumption, Utah statutory mandate and well-established Utah jurisprudence make clear that a statute cannot be given retroactive effect unless the Legislature expressly declares such an intent in the statute itself. Nowhere in the 2004 Amendments does the Legislature expressly declare that the 2004 Amendments are to be applied retroactively. In the absence of an express declaration of retroactive application, the trial court's strained reading of § 78-14-17 violates the strong presumption against the retroactive application of statutes.

II. The 2004 Amendments affect the substantive rights and obligations of parties to physician/patient arbitration agreements and, thus, should not be applied retroactively. A statutory amendment that merely alters the procedure by which substantive rights are adjudicated can be retroactively applicable. On the other hand, if a statutory amendment changes the contractual rights and obligations of the parties, it is substantive and should not be applied retroactively. The 2004 Amendments directly affect the contractual rights and obligations of Dr. Gaul and Plaintiff—and indeed all parties to physician/patient arbitration agreements entered into prior to the Amendments taking effect—by rendering the Agreement unenforceable. Thus, the 2004 Amendments are substantive and should not be applied retroactively.

III. Retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments violates the contract clauses of the Utah and United States Constitutions. It is a well-established rule of statutory construction that if a legislative act is susceptible of two constructions, one conformable to the constitutional provision on the subject, and the other not, the Court should adopt the one that is conformable, and reject the other that is not. A violation of the contract clause will be found when the application of a new statute to an existing contract changes the meaning of the contract and deprives parties of a contractual right which they would have had under the prior statutory

scheme. The trial court's retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments violates the contract clauses of the Utah and United States Constitutions because it changes the meaning of the Agreement and deprives Dr. Graul of her right to compel Plaintiff to arbitrate her claims, a right that Dr. Graul would have had under the 2003 version of § 78-14-17. Accordingly, this Court should confirm the constitutionality of § 78-14-17 by rejecting the retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments.

IV. The trial court's failure to give meaning to all of the provisions of Subsection (1) of § 78-14-17 renders its conclusion that the 2004 Amendments apply retroactively incorrect. The language of Subsection (1) provides two alternatives regarding the application of the statute's requirements: 1) apply the requirements of Subsection (1) to all newly executed agreements; or 2) apply any new requirements in Subsection (1) (*i.e.*, following any amendments) to a renewed agreement that previously met the requirements of Subsection (1) on at least one occasion. In ignoring the language in Subsection (1) that provides for these alternatives, the trial court incorrectly determined that the 2004 Amendments apply retroactively to all physician/patient arbitration agreements validly executed under prior versions of § 78-14-17.

ARGUMENT

I. THE 2004 AMENDMENTS SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY BECAUSE THE LEGISLATURE DID NOT EXPRESSLY DECLARE THEM TO BE RETROACTIVE.

It is a fundamental principle of jurisprudence that retroactive application of new statutes is usually unfair. 2 Sutherland Statutory Construction § 41:2 (6th ed.). Indeed, “the hackneyed maxim that everyone is held to know the law, itself a principle of dubious wisdom, nevertheless presupposes that the law is at least susceptible of being known. But this is not possible concerning a law that has yet to exist.” Id. Accordingly, the Utah Supreme Court has made clear that as a general rule, “[r]etroactivity is not favored in the law.” Goebel v. Salt Lake City Southern R.R. Co., 2004 UT 80, ¶ 39, 104 P.3d 1185 (citing Bowen v. Georgetown Univ. Hosp., 488 U.S. 204, 208 (1988)).

Consistent with these principles, both the Utah Legislature and Judiciary recognize a strong presumption against the retroactive application of statutes. Thomas v. Color Country Management, 2004 UT 12, ¶ 30, 84 P.3d 1201 (j. Durham concurring). The Utah Legislature expressly codified this presumption by clearly stating “[n]o part of these revised statutes is retroactive, unless expressly so declared.” Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-3 (2000). Reinforcing this legislative mandate is the well-established Utah jurisprudence that a statute cannot be given retroactive

effect unless the legislature expressly declares such an intent in the statute itself.

Goebel, 2004 UT at ¶ 39 (citing Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-3 (2000)); see also

Madsen v. Borthick, 769 P.2d 245, 253 (Utah 1988); Stephens v. Henderson, 741 P.2d 952, 953 (Utah 1987).

In the instant case, the trial court incorrectly held that the 2004 Amendments apply retroactively because the Legislature did not expressly declare that the 2004 Amendments are to be applied retroactively. The provisions of § 78-14-17 cited by trial court in reaching its decision are:

(1) After May 2, 1999, for a binding arbitration agreement between a patient and a health care provider to be validly executed, or, if the requirements of this Subsection (1) have not been previously met on at least one occasion, renewed . . .

. . .

(5) The requirements of Subsection (1) do not apply to a claim governed by a binding arbitration agreement that was executed or renewed before May 3, 1999.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-17(1) and (5) (2004).

Upon an analysis of these provisions, the trial court specifically reasoned that:

[t]he plain language of § 78-14-17 indicates that the Legislature intended for the amended requirements of Subsection (1) to apply to all arbitration agreements

executed “[a]fter May 2, 1999” Notably, the language “[a]fter May 2, 1999” has appeared in the statute since it was enacted on May 3, 1999. By preserving this language in the 2004 amendment to the statute, the Legislature evidenced its intent to apply the amendment retroactively.

Likewise, Subsection (5) indicates that “[t]he requirements of Subsection (1) do not apply to a claim governed by a binding arbitration agreement that was executed or renewed before May 3, 1999.” This language reinforces the notion that the Legislature intended to apply the amended requirements of Subsection (1) only to arbitration agreements executed after May 2, 1999. Otherwise, the Legislature would have modified Subsection (5) in 2004 to indicate that the amendments apply only prospectively from the date of the amendment. Accordingly, the Court determines that the 2004 amendment to § 78-14-17 applies retroactively.

[R. 74-75].

A review of the trial court’s reasoning reveals that it never specifically identified where in the statute that the Legislature expressly declared the 2004 Amendments to be retroactive. That is because no such express declaration exists in § 78-14-17. Instead, the court engages in a strained reading of the statute to arrive at its conclusion. The trial court’s use of the language “indicates that the Legislature intended” and “the Legislature evidenced its intent” reveals the derivative nature of the trial court’s reasoning. The court is required to piece together the Legislature’s intent from various subsections of the statute to apply it

retroactively because the statute lacks a clear and express declaration by the Legislature that it is to be applied retroactively.

The Utah Legislature knows how to expressly declare that a statute is to be applied retroactively, and it did not do so in § 78-14-17. For example, under the Environmental Quality Code, the Legislature expressly stated:

(3)(a) It is the intent of the Legislature that liability as determined under this act applies retroactively to any release of a hazardous substance or material subject to or currently in the process of investigation, abatement, or corrective action under this part as of the effective date of this act.

Utah Code Ann. § 19-6-302.5 (1995) (emphasis added). In addition, in the Utah Code of Criminal Procedure, the Legislature expressly stated: “[t]he provisions of Sections 77-18-9 through 77-18-17 apply retroactively to all arrests and convictions regardless of the date on which the arrests were made or convictions entered.”

Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-17 (1994) (emphasis added). A plain reading of § 78-14-17 reveals that the statute is void of any similar language expressly declaring the Legislature’s intent to apply 2004 Amendments retroactively.

In the absence of an express declaration of retroactive application, the trial court’s strained reading of § 78-14-17 violates the strong presumption against the

retroactive application of statutes. The trial court should be reversed for this reason alone.

II. THE 2004 AMENDMENTS SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY BECAUSE THEY AFFECT THE SUBSTANTIVE RIGHTS OF PARTIES TO PHYSICIAN-PATIENT ARBITRATION AGREEMENTS.

One exception to the strong presumption against the retroactive application of statutes is the “procedural” exception. Thomas, 2004 UT at ¶ 33. Under this exception, a statutory amendment that merely alters the procedure by which substantive rights are adjudicated, is retroactively applicable. Id. An amendment is merely procedural if it “does not ‘enlarge, eliminate, or destroy vested or contractual rights.’” Ball v. Peterson, 912 P.2d 1006, 1009 (Utah Ct. App. 1996) (quoting Salt Lake Child & Family Therapy Clinic, Inc. v. Frederick, 890 P.2d 1017, 1020 (Utah 1995)). On the other hand, “[i]f a statutory amendment changes the contractual rights and obligations of the parties, it is substantive.” Washington Nat’l Ins. Co. v. Sherwood Assoc., 795 P.2d 665, 667 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (citing Petty v. Clark, 192 P.2d 589, 593 (Utah 1948)). Further, “[e]very amendment not expressly characterized as a clarification [of existing law] carries the rebuttable presumption that it is intended to change existing legal rights and liabilities.” State v. Amador, 804 P.2d 1233, 1234 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

The 2004 Amendments affect the substantive rights and obligations of Dr. Gaul and Plaintiff and, thus, should not be applied retroactively. As established in Section I. above, the Legislature did not expressly declare the 2004 Amendments to be retroactive. See § I. supra. Nor did the Legislature expressly characterize the 2004 Amendments as a clarification of existing law. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-17 (2004). As a result, the 2004 Amendments are presumed to be substantive and should not be applied retroactively. Amador, 804 P.2d at 1234.

In addition, the trial court's decision in the instant case clearly demonstrates the substantive nature of the 2004 Amendments. The trial court concluded that because the Agreement does not comply with the requirements set forth in the 2004 Amendments, the Agreement is unenforceable. [R. 75]. The obvious result of the retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments is to eliminate Dr. Gaul's contractual right to compel Plaintiff to arbitrate her medical malpractice claims, and Plaintiff's corresponding contractual obligation to arbitrate her claims. [R. 71-76]. Thus, the trial court's own decision makes clear that the 2004 Amendments are substantive because when applied retroactively, they "change the contractual rights and obligations of the parties." Washington Nat'l Ins. Co., 795 P.2d at 667.

Not only does the retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments affect Dr. Graul's and Plaintiff's contractual rights and obligations, it affects the rights of all parties to physician/patient arbitration agreements entered into prior to May 3, 2004. Indeed, the retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments will directly interfere with the contractual rights of parties to hundreds, if not thousands, of physician/patient arbitration agreements. This result is untenable under the Utah and United States Constitutions.

III. RETROACTIVE APPLICATION OF THE 2004 AMENDMENTS VIOLATES THE CONTRACT CLAUSES OF THE UTAH AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

It is a fundamental rule of statutory construction that “if a legislative act is susceptible of two constructions, one conformable to the constitutional provision on the subject, and the other not, [the Court] will adopt the one that is conformable, and reject the other that is not. Thurnwald v. A.E., 2007 UT 38, ¶ 42, —P.3d— (citing Pleasant Grove City v. Holman, 202 P. 1096, 1098 (Utah 1921)). Further, the Utah Supreme Court has stated that “we have a duty to construe a statute whenever possible so as to effectuate legislative intent and avoid and/or save it from constitutional conflicts or infirmities.” State v. Bell, 785 P.2d 390, 397 (Utah 1989).

The contract clause of the Utah State Constitution provides:

[n]o bill of attainder, ex post facto law, or law impairing the obligation of contracts shall be passed.

Utah Const. art. I, § 18. The contract clause of the United States Constitution similarly provides:

[n]o state shall . . . pass any bill of attainder, as ex post facto law, or law impairing the obligations of contracts, or grant any title of nobility.

U.S. Const. art. I, § 10, cl. 1.

In giving meaning to the contract clause, the Utah Supreme Court has held that:

[i]t has long been recognized that the “impairment of obligation” provision of the United States Constitution (and similarly that of Utah’s Constitution) is not to protect future contracts but rather those existing prior to the enactment of the challenged statute. These provisions do not establish a right of parties to make contracts that are illegal and against public policy. They merely prevent “impairment” by a changing of the laws after the contract has been made.

Beehive Medical Electronics, Inc. v. Industrial Comm’n, 583 P.2d 53, 60 (Utah 1978) (emphasis added). A violation of the contract clause will be found when the application of a new statute to an existing contract “changes the meaning of [the] contract and deprives [defendants] of a contractual right which [they] would have had under the prior statutory scheme.” Washington Nat’l Ins. Co. v. Sherwood

Associates, 795 P.2d 665, 670 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). Fundamentally, “a later statute or amendment should not be applied in a retroactive manner to deprive a party of his rights or impose greater liability upon him.” Oakland Constr. Co. v. Industrial Comm’n, 520 P.2d 208, 210 (Utah 1974).

The retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments violates the contract clauses of the Utah and United States Constitutions by substantially impairing—indeed invalidating—existing physician/patient arbitration validly executed under prior versions of § 78-14-17. As established in Section III. supra, the trial court’s retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments to the Agreement fundamentally changes the contractual rights and obligations of Dr. Graul and Plaintiff. See § III. supra. Plainly, the trial court’s decision changes the meaning of the Agreement and deprives Dr. Graul of her right to compel Plaintiff to arbitrate her claims, a right that Dr. Graul would have had under the 2003 version of § 78-14-17. See Washington Nat’l Ins. Co., 795 P.2d at 670.

In addition to affecting the contractual rights of the parties to the instant appeal, the consequences of the retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments are far reaching. Hundreds, if not thousands, of physician/patient arbitration agreements have been entered into since May 2, 1999 and prior to May 3, 2004. Many, if not all of these agreements were made to conform with the prior versions

of § 78-14-17 in an effort to render them valid and enforceable. Because the 2004 Amendments change the requirements these agreements must meet in order to be enforceable, retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments will, like in the instant case, render all of these agreement unenforceable. This result is simply unacceptable under the contract clauses of the Utah and United States Constitutions. Accordingly, this Court should confirm the constitutionality of § 78-14-17 by rejecting the retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO GIVE MEANING TO ALL OF THE PROVISIONS OF § 78-14-17 RENDERING ITS CONCLUSION THAT THE 2004 AMENDMENTS ARE RETROACTIVE INCORRECT.

This Court has consistently recognized that “the best evidence of the legislature’s intent and purpose [in enacting statutes] is the plain language of the statute.” Eastern Utah Broadcasting and Worker’s Compensation Fund v. Labor Comm’n, 2007 UT App 99, ¶ 8, 158 P.3d 1115. Further, “the well-established principle of statutory construction requires [the Court] to give meaning, where possible, to all provisions of a statute.” Lund v. Brown, 2000 UT 75, ¶ 23, 11 P.3d 277.

In reaching its conclusion, the trial court violated these fundamental tenets of statutory construction by failing to give meaning to all provisions of the statute.

Indeed, the trial court ignored the plain and significant language in Subsection (1) of § 78-14-17 that indicates the Legislature's intent to not apply the 2004 Amendments retroactively. The trial court concluded that the following language in Subsection (1) of § 78-14-17 is evidence of the Legislature's intent to apply the statute retroactively:

(1) After May 2, 1999, for a binding arbitration agreement between a patient and a health care provider to be validly executed, or, if the requirements of this Subsection (1) have not been previously met on at least one occasion, renewed . . .

Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-17(1) (2004). The trial court reasoned that “by preserving the language ‘[a]fter May 2, 1999’ in the 2004 Amendments, the Legislature evidenced its intent to apply the amendment retroactively.” [R. 74].

Notably, the second portion of the first sentence in Subsection (1) is simply missing from the trial court's analysis. The trial court ignored the language: “or, if the requirements of this Subsection (1) have not been previously met on at least one occasion, renewed” Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-17(1) (2004) (emphasis added). The trial court's failure to give meaning to this language not only violates fundamental principles of statutory construction, it renders the court's interpretation of the statute incorrect.

The word “or” is inherently disjunctive and is typically “used to link alternatives.” Oxford English Dictionary, (rev. 10th ed. 2002). The presence of the word “or” in the first sentence of Subsection (1) reveals the disjunctive nature of the provision, and that the Subsection provides two alternatives regarding the application of the statute’s requirements: 1) apply the requirements of Subsection (1) to all newly executed agreements; or 2) apply any new requirements in Subsection (1) (*i.e.*, following any amendments) to a renewed agreement that previously met the requirements of Subsection (1) on at least one occasion. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-17(1) (2004). In other words, all arbitration agreements entered into after May 2, 1999, must meet the present requirements (2004 Amendments) of Subsection (1), unless the physician-patient arbitration agreement previously met the requirements of Subsection (1) under a previous version of the statute. See id.

The facts of the instant case illustrate the application of the second alternative in Subsection (1), and the inaccuracy of the trial court’s conclusion that the 2004 Amendments are retroactive. In the instant case, neither Plaintiff, nor the trial court, disputes the fact that the Agreement complies with the requirements set forth in the 2003 version of § 78-14-17. [R. 47; 71-77]. As a result, the Agreement met the requirements of Subsection (1) on at least one occasion: when

it was executed by the parties in April of 2003 prior to the 2004 Amendments taking effect.

[R. 47]. Thus, the Agreement falls under the second alternative of Subsection (1) rendering it valid and enforceable until the Agreement was to be renewed. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-17(1) (2004). Moreover, because Plaintiff did not seek any further treatment from Dr. Gaul beyond the May 10, 2003 surgery, there was no need, or opportunity, to renew the Agreement and bring it into compliance with the 2004 Amendments. [R. 91, pp. 14-16]. Therefore, the Agreement is valid and enforceable because it met the requirements of Subsection (1) under the 2003 version of the statute, the version of the statute that was in effect at the time the Agreement was executed.