2007

# Gloria Soriano v. Elizabeth A. Gaul : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

On appeal, Dr. Gaul raises two issues, one explicit and one implied. Dr. Gaul's stated issue is whether the district court correctly found the 2004 Amendments were retroactive as to invalidate the Arbitration Agreement. The statute clearly stated it applied to agreements signed after May 2, 1999 and, therefore, applied to Dr. Gaul's Agreement signed in April, 2004. Dr. Gaul also argues retroactive application of the 2004 Amendments violates the Contracts Clause of the U.S. and Utah Constitutions, but Dr. Gaul did not preserve this issue for appeal.

Dr. Gaul's last argument raises a second issue: whether the Agreement was *renewed* in violation of the 2004 Amendments. Dr. Gaul's strained construction of the Act to circumvent the trial court's ruling on the retroactivity issue collapses in her final argument which demonstrates even if the Agreement was not invalid when executed, it was never properly renewed and, thus, equally ineffective to bar a jury trial of Mrs. Soriano's claims.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE LEGISLATURE EXPRESSLY DECLARED THE 2004 AMENDMENTS MUST BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY**

Responding to public outcry over the ill-advised 2003 version of § 78-14-17, the legislature amended the Arbitration Act to add various patient protections including the right to receive treatment without signing an arbitration agreement.<sup>1</sup> Despite the amendments'

---

<sup>1</sup> See Bryson B. Morgan, *Mandatory Medical Arbitration: The Wrong Answer to the Rising Cost of Health Care in Utah*, 6 *Hinckley Journal of Politics* 43 (2005), attached as Appendix B.

effective date of May 3, 2004, the legislature's enacting language began, "After May 2, 1999, for a binding arbitration agreement between a patient and a health care provider to be validly executed . . ." (Emphasis added).

The trial court's reasoning for finding the Amendments retroactive is straightforward. Had the legislature not wanted the 2004 Amendments applied retroactively, they would have said so by drafting the enacting language to state, "After May 3, 2004 . . ." [R. 74-75]. Dr. Gaul gives no explanation for the legislature's use of the May 3, 1999 date, though the simplest explanation is they intended the 2004 Amendments to apply retroactively. To paraphrase Occam's Razor, "All things being equal, the simplest solution tends to be the right one."

Statutory construction confirms the legislature's retroactive intent. "Unambiguous language in the statute may not be interpreted to contradict its plain meaning." *Salt Lake Child and Family Therapy Clinic, Inc. v. Frederick*, 890 P.2d 1017, 1020 (Utah 1995). Thus, the Court assumes each term in the statute was used advisedly and does not ignore its plain meaning. *Id.* "[The Court] must be guided by the law as it is . . . When language is clear and unambiguous, it must be held to mean what it expresses, and no room is left for construction." *Id.* (citations omitted). The enacting language of the 2004 Amendments is clear and unambiguous. By writing the statute to expressly apply to agreements after May 3, 1999, the legislature clearly expressed retroactive intent and the trial court properly rejected Dr. Gaul's Arbitration Agreement.

Dr. Graul errs in demanding the legislature actually use the word “retroactive” instead of providing an earlier effective date as done here. Dr. Graul offers no authority so holding. Rather, “[t]he presumption in favor of the prospective applicability of a statute may be rebutted when the legislature clearly and unequivocally expresses its intent that the legislation will apply retrospectively. The words ‘heretofore’ and ‘has been,’ *or other expressions denoting past time*, expressly give the statute a retrospective operation.” C.J.S. STATUTES § 408 (1999)(emphasis added). For example, in *Nervo v. Mealey*, 25 N.Y.S.2d 632, 634 (N.Y. Sup. 1940), the statute read, “[i]n case a suspension or revocation has been made and the commissioner is satisfied that there was such a failure . . .” (Emphasis added). The Court did not require the statute to contain the term “retroactive,” but rather found clear legislative intent from the words “has been” denoting past time. Our legislature’s use of the date May 3, 1999 serves the same purpose and has the same effect.

Here, the legislature clearly expressed its intent the 2004 Amendments were to operate retrospectively by expressly applying them to arbitration agreements signed after May 2, 1999. The legislature repeated its intent in Subsection (5) of the Arbitration Act stating, “The requirements of Subsection (1) do not apply to a claim governed by a binding arbitration agreement that was executed or renewed before May 3, 1999.” *See* Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-17(5)(2004). “The best evidence of the legislature’s intent is the plain meaning of the statute.” *Cache Co. v. Property Tax Div. of Utah State Tax Com’n*, 922 P.2d 758, 767 (Utah 1996). Had the legislature intended to apply the amendments only prospectively, as

Dr. Gaul avers, they would have simply drafted the enacting line of the statute to read, “After May 3, 2004 . . .” The fact the legislature did not do so is a sufficiently express declaration of retroactive intent. The trial court, thus, properly found Dr. Gaul’s Agreement invalid because it did not comply with the 2004 Amendments.

## **II. DR. GAUL’S MERE MENTION OF A POSSIBLE CONTRACT CLAUSE VIOLATION DID NOT PRESERVE SUCH A CLAIM FOR APPEAL**

Dr. Gaul failed to preserve her contract clause argument for appeal. Dr. Gaul did not include this argument in her initial brief in support of her Motion to Compel Arbitration. [R. 12-17]. Obviously, then, Mrs. Soriano did not address it in her opposition brief. [R. 21-32]. The argument, such as it is, was thrown in as an afterthought to Dr. Gaul’s reply memorandum. The argument, in its entirety, consisted of the following: “Retroactive application of the 2004 amendment would obviate the one-year term specified by statute and in the Arbitration Agreement, would impair the contractual relationship between parties, and would fail to pass muster under the Contracts Clause of the U.S. and Utah Constitutions, which prohibits laws ‘impairing the obligations of contracts.’ U.S. Const. Art. I, § 10, cl. 1; Utah Const. Art. I, § 18.” [R. 48-49]. Yet, having lost her other arguments, Dr. Gaul now devotes a quarter of her brief to the argument. This is improper.

Mere citations cannot be thrown into briefs to act as appellate place holders in case other arguments actually addressed to the trial court fail; especially in the case of constitutional interpretation. In *State v. Worwood*, 2007 UT 47, ¶ 16; 164 P.3d 397, the

Utah Supreme Court stated, “[i]n order to further develop state constitutional law . . . claims must be properly presented to this court.” That means, “[t]he issue must be ‘raised to a level of consciousness’ that allows the trial court an adequate opportunity to address it. It follows, then, that perfunctorily mentioning an issue, without more, does not preserve it for appeal.” *Id.*, accord *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 2005 UT 13, ¶ 14; 122 P.3d 506 (“we are resolute in our refusal to take up constitutional issues which have not been properly preserved, framed and briefed . . .”).

Here, Dr. Graul cited a constitutional provision, but gave no interpretation of the provision or how the provision applied to the facts of this case. [R. 49]. As stated in *State v. Cruz*, 2005 UT 45, ¶ 33; 122 P.3d 543, “As a general rule, claims not raised before the trial court may not be raised on appeal. A party cannot circumvent that rule by merely mentioning an issue without introducing supporting evidence or relevant legal authority; such a ‘mere mention’ does not preserve that issue for appeal.” (Internal citations omitted).

In this case, Dr. Graul tossed in a constitutional violation argument at the end of a run-on sentence in her reply brief. More is required to preserve issues for appeal for, otherwise, trial court briefs will include bullet point arguments which serve as back-ups in the case of an unfavorable ruling. Allowing the mere mention of an issue to serve as preservation mocks the purpose of the rule that is to allow the parties to first argue the issue below and the trial court the first opportunity to rule on the issue.

Here, Mrs. Soriano never had an opportunity to address the argument. The issue was

not raised at the hearing before Judge Toomey. Judge Toomey did not rule on the issue in her Memorandum Decision. [R.71-76]. In *Brody v. Mills*, 929 P.2d 360 (Utah App. 1996), defendant argued before this Court plaintiffs should be estopped from refusing to sell her a condominium. Defendant had indeed mentioned estoppel in her answer and further mentioned it in a hearing before the trial court. Despite these brief mentions, this Court ruled “these nominal references did not sufficiently raise the issue to a ‘level of consciousness’ before the trial court.” *Id.* at 364; *quoting James v. Preston*, 746 P.2d 799, 802 (Utah App. 1987). Likewise, Dr. Graul failed to bring this issue to the trial court’s attention, failed to present legal authority or factual support for her argument, and failed to have it addressed and decided. Therefore, she cannot raise the issue of a contracts clause violation for the first time on appeal.

### **III. DR. GRAUL’S ARBITRATION AGREEMENT COULD NOT BE RENEWED IN VIOLATION OF THE 2004 AMENDMENTS**

Dr. Graul’s last argument claims the trial court ignored the second portion of the enacting language of the 2004 Amendments. The 2004 version of the Arbitration Act begins: “After May 2, 1999, for a binding arbitration agreement between a patient and a health care provider to be validly executed, or, if the requirements of this Subsection (1) have not been previously met on at least one occasion, renewed . . .” Dr. Graul interprets this provision as follows: “In other words, all arbitration agreements entered into after May 2, 1999, must meet the [2004 amendments] of Subsection (1), unless the physician-patient arbitration agreement previously met the requirements of Subsection (1) under *a previous version* of the

statute.” Appellate Brief at 19 (emphasis added).

Dr. Graul’s argument that the Arbitration Act’s phrase “**this** Subsection (1)” somehow refers to any “previous version” of the Act is unpersuasive. Statutes “should be interpreted and applied according to the plain import of their language as it would be understood by persons of ordinary intelligence and experience.” *Salt Lake City v. Ohms*, 881 P.2d 844, 850 n. 14 (Utah 1994) (citation omitted). It is a stretch indeed to interpret “this” to mean *previous* versions of Subsection (1) that appear nowhere in the Act. Merriam-Webster defines “this” as “what is stated in the following phrase, clause, or discourse.” Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary (2007).<sup>2</sup> In this instance, the 2004 Amendments logically follow the word “this.” For a valid renewal to occur, the Agreement must thus comply with “this” Subsection (1) - i.e. the 2004 Amendments.

Accordingly, even were we to accept Dr. Graul’s argument the 2004 Amendments were not retroactive, her Agreement is still unenforceable because it could not be renewed without complying with the 2004 Amendments. Article 6 of Dr. Graul’s Arbitration Agreement defined the Term of the Agreement as one year from signing. After that “[i]t shall be automatically renewed from year to year thereafter . . .” See Appendix A. Here, Dr. Graul moved the trial court for enforcement of her Agreement more than two (2) years after it was signed – meaning it had to be renewed twice under Article 6 (once in 2005 and again in 2006). Yet, according to the 2004 Amendments, after May 2, 1999, for a binding

---

<sup>2</sup> Attached as Appendix C.